Before the
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State of Missouri

STATE BOARD OF NURSING,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 10-1604 BN



)

CHARLES T. OWEN,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION


Charles T. Owen is subject to discipline because he illegally possessed heroin and marijuana.
Procedure


On August 24, 2010, the State Board of Nursing (“the Board”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Owen.  On September 1, 2010, we served Owen with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing by certified mail.  Owen did not file an answer.  On January 7, 2011, the Board filed a motion for summary decision (“the motion”).  We gave Owen until January 24, 2011 to respond to the motion.  Owen responded by asking to withdraw his deemed admissions.  We granted the motion.  Owen subsequently answered the Board’s request for admissions.

We held a hearing on February 25, 2011.  The case become ready for our decision on May 13, 2011, the date the transcript was filed.
Findings of Fact

1. Owen is licensed by the Board as a registered professional nurse.  His license is current and active, and was so at all relevant times.
2. Owen was employed with Barnes-Jewish Hospital (“Barnes”) from August 7, 2006, through March 2, 2009.  He worked as an RN in the intensive care unit.

3. On December 11, 2008, Owen contacted his clinical nurse manager and asked to be taken off the work schedule for a week.  He informed her that he was self referring to a detox center.  Owen was addicted to opiates, and he had recently been injecting himself with heroin.  He never diverted drugs from Barnes.
4. Owen was informed he had to be in full withdrawal to begin detox.  He stopped using opiates the morning of December 12, 2008.  On the night of December 14, 2008, he was experiencing severe withdrawal symptoms.  Someone told him the only way to curb those withdrawal symptoms without ingesting opiates was to smoke marijuana, and he did.

5. Owen had no prescription for either heroin or marijuana.

6. Owen went through a rehabilitation program with Bridgeway Behavioral Health from December 15, 2008, through December 19, 2008.  On December 19, he reported to his clinical nurse manager that he had finished detox and was ready to return to work.
7. Barnes required employees who had diverted or used drugs to be referred to an employee assistance program (“EAP”) to determine whether the employee could return to the same work unit.

8. Owen was scheduled to meet with EAP representatives and be subjected to a drug screen.
9. When Owen met with the EAP representatives, he asked if he could defer the drug screen for a period of time since he believed he might still test positive for the opiates and THC (from the marijuana).  He was told that he could, so he did not submit to the drug screen at that time.

10. After this, Owen had 28 days of inpatient treatment at Christian Hospital.

11. Upon his release, Owen was unable to find another position within Barnes, so he was terminated on March 2, 2009.  Because he was a good employee, his termination was “conditional,” meaning that he had a year to remain in the “system” and apply for positions at Barnes.
12. Owen had no other problems in his employment at Barnes.  He received an “Angel Award” for his compassionate care to a dying man.  He had a good bedside manner and was well liked by patients and their families.

13. Owen has been sober since February 5, 2009.  He attends AA meetings regularly and has seen a psychiatrist for his opioid dependency.
Records Under Seal


Board Exhibit 1 and Owen’s Exhibit A contain confidential medical information from a health care provider.  This information is protected from disclosure by the United States Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”), 45 C.F.R. § 164.502.  At the hearing, the Board moved to close the record as it relates to the medical treatment of the licensee.  We agree that these exhibits may be sealed under § 610.021(14), RSMo Supp. 2010, which allows us to close “[r]ecords which are protected from disclosure by law[.]”  We place Exhibits 1 and A under seal.
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear the case.
  The Board has the burden of proving that Owen has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Board alleges that there is cause for discipline under § 335.066:
2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621 against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by sections 335.011 to 335.096 or any person who has failed to renew of has surrendered his or her certificate of registration nor authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

(1) Use or unlawful possession of any controlled substance, as defined in chapter 195, or alcoholic beverage to an extent that such use impairs a person’s ability to perform the work of any profession licensed or regulated by sections 335.011 to 335.096;

*   *   *

(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by sections 335.011 to 335.096, RSMo;

*   *   *

(14) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]

Use or Unlawful Possession of Controlled Substance – Subdivision (1)

The Board alleges that Owen's possession of heroin and marijuana was unlawful under 
§ 195.202.1, which states:

Except as authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425, it is unlawful for any person to possess or have under his control a controlled substance.
Owen admits that he injected heroin and used marijuana.  Therefore, he possessed them.  Both are controlled substances.
  We find cause for discipline under § 335.066.2 (1).
Professional Standards – Subdivision (5)


The Board alleges that Owen’s conduct constituted misconduct in the performance of the functions or duties of a nurse.   Misconduct means “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”
  Owen did not divert drugs at Barnes or work under the influence of drugs.  He stated:
I worked part time, 2 shifts per week, 12 hour shifts.  I made certain I did not use opiates before or during work, ever.  I was always able to go 24-48 hours without using, but was never able to go beyond 72 hours. . .  I am quite confident that any further progression of my disease would inevitably [have] resulted in possible injury to a patient.  I did not abuse controlled substances in the workplace. . . .
*    *    *

I have never diverted drugs. . . .  One of the important reasons that I self referred was because I was in fear of compromising my nursing.  I have always considered nursing to be sacred.  I had been unsuccessful in quitting this abuse on my own after trying several times.[
]
  
We believe that Owen did not use or divert drugs at Barnes.  Therefore, we do not believe he engaged in misconduct in the performance of the functions or duties of a nurse, as the statute requires for discipline.  He is not subject to discipline under § 335.066.2(5).
Violation of Drug Laws – Subdivision (14)


Owen had no valid prescription for heroin or marijuana.  Therefore, he violated 
§ 195.202 and is subject to discipline under § 335.066.2(14).
Summary


Owen is subject to discipline under § 335.066.2(1) and (14).  He is not subject to discipline under § 335.066.2(5).  

SO ORDERED on June 9, 2011.


________________________________



KAREN A. WINN


Commissioner

�Section 621.045.  All statutory references are to RSMo Supp. 2010.


�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


�Heroin and marijuana are Schedule I controlled substances pursuant to § 195.017.2(3)(k) and 


§ 195.017.2(4)(z), respectively.


�Missouri Bd. for Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng’rs & Land Surv’rs v. Duncan, No. AR-84-0239 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Nov. 15, 1985) at 125, aff’d, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  


�Pet. Ex. 3 at 10-11 (answers to request for admissions).
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